
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
GERALD COX, JAMES COX and   ) 
COX, INC. d/b/a COX BAIL BONDS  )  Cause No.:  
        ) 
   Plaintiffs    )  PLAINTIFFS DEMAND TRIAL BY JURY 
        )  
vs.        )      
        )    Claims      
CITY OF MARYLAND HEIGHTS   )  Count I – Violation of U.S.C. § 1983 
 Serve: City Administrator   )  Defamation “Stigma Plus”, p. 8 
   Mark Levin    )  Count II – Violation of Missouri Common Law 
   212 Millwell Drive   )  Slander, p. 9 
   Maryland Heights, MO 63043 )  Count III – Violation of U.S.C. § 1983 
        )  Unreasonable & Unlawful Seizure, p. 10 
TOM O’CONNOR, Chief of Police of the City of )  Count IV – Violation of U.S.C. § 1983 
 Maryland Heights, Individually and in his  )  False Imprisonment, p. 12 
 Official Capacity,    )  Count V – Violation of U.S.C. § 1983  
 Serve at: 212 Millwell Drive   )  Malicious Prosecution, p. 13 
   Maryland Heights, MO 63043 )  Count VI – Violation of Missouri Common Law 
        )  Malicious Prosecution, p. 14 
JOE DELIA, Lieutenant of the City of Maryland )  Count VII – Violation of U.S.C. § 1983 
 Heights Police Department, Individually and in )  Conspiracy to Violate Civil Rights, p. 15 
 his Official Capacity,    )  Count VIII – Violation of Missouri Common Law 
 Serve at: 212 Millwell Drive   )  Civil Conspiracy, p. 16 
   Maryland Heights, MO 63043 )  Count IX – Violation of Missouri Common Law 
        )  Tortuous Interference w/Business Expectancy, p. 17 
SEAN FANNING, Police Officer of the City of  )  Count X – Violation of Missouri Common Law 
 Maryland Heights, Individually and in his )  Tortuous Interference with Contract, p. 18 
 Official Capacity,    )  Count XI – Violation of Missouri Common Law 
 Serve at: 212 Millwell Drive   )  Replevin, p. 19 
   Maryland Heights, MO 63043 )  Count XII – Violation of Missouri Common Law 
        )  Conversion, p. 20 
   Defendants.    ) 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

1. Counts I, III, IV, V and VII of this action arise under the Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988.   Counts 

II, VI, and VIII through XII of this action arise under the common law of Missouri. 



2. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal statutory and civil rights claims by 

virtue of 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1443.  The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state 

law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

3. Venue is proper before this Court by virtue of 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Gerald Cox is a citizen of the United States and a resident of St. Charles 

County, Missouri.  Gerald Cox is the father of Plaintiff James Cox. 

5. Plaintiff James Cox is a citizen of the United States and a resident of St. Charles 

County, Missouri.   

6. Plaintiff Cox, Inc. d/b/a Cox Bail Bonds is a duly registered Missouri corporation.  

Plaintiffs Gerald Cox and James Cox are the owners of Cox, Inc.  The principle place of business 

is located in St. Charles County, Missouri.  

7. Defendant City of Maryland Heights is a political subdivision of the state of 

Missouri located in St. Louis County, Missouri.  Defendant City of Maryland Heights at all times 

herein had taken its actions against Plaintiffs through agents and employees acting within the 

scope and course of their employment and under color of law. 

8. Defendant Tom O’Connor was at all times relevant herein the chief of police for 

the City of Maryland Heights.  At all times relevant herein Defendant O’Connor acted within the 

scope and course of his employment and under color of law.  He is sued both individually and in 

his official capacity. 

9. Defendant Joe Delia was at all times relevant herein a lieutenant for the City of 

Maryland Heights Police Department and the supervisor of the detective bureau.  At all times 

relevant herein Defendant Delia acted within the scope and course of his employment and under 

color of law.  He is sued both individually and in his official capacity. 
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10. Defendant Sean Fanning was at all times relevant herein a police officer for the 

City of Maryland Heights Police Department.  At all times relevant herein Defendant Fanning 

acted within the scope and course of his employment and under color of law.  He is sued both 

individually and in his official capacity. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 

 11. On or about June 6, 2008, Cox, Inc. provided a criminal bond on behalf of Ms. 

Leah Pinion in the circuit court of the city of St. Louis for a violation of a felony probation in 

case number 22041-00508A.  The bond was secured through Mr. Lance Peabody, who had 

executed a quit claim deed upon his residence to Cox, Inc.  Mr. Peabody further executed a 

written contract for the payment of fees and additional costs and expenses should Ms. Pinion 

violate the conditions of her bond.  Mr. Peabody was the guarantor of Ms. Pinion’s compliance 

with the conditions of her bond.  Mr. Peabody was the boyfriend of Ms. Pinion. 

 12. In the first week of August 2008, Mr. Peabody contacted Cox Bail Bonds and 

informed them that he no longer wished to provide the bond for Ms. Pinion.  On August 11, 

2008, the bond was withdrawn by the circuit clerk of the city of St. Louis, and a warrant issued 

for the arrest of Leah Pinion.  Cox Bail Bonds remained liable on the bond until the arrest of 

Leah Pinion. 

 13. Following August 11, 2008, Cox Bail Bonds notified a local bounty hunter that 

Leah Pinion needed to be taken into custody.  The bounty hunter was not an employee or agent 

of Cox Bail Bonds.  The bounty hunter was compensated as an independent contractor pursuant 

to a written contract with Cox, Inc. and Cox, Inc. had no control or authority over that individual 

or his agents. 

 14. At approximately 1:30 a.m. on August 17, 2008, the bounty hunter located and 

apprehended Leah Pinion at a LaQuinta Hotel located in the city of Maryland Heights.  Lance 
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Peabody was located in the same room with Leah Pinion and knew that Leah Pinion was a 

fugitive from justice and had an outstanding arrest warrant after he withdrew his bond. 

 15. The bounty hunter then contacted Gerald Cox and told him he had arrested Leah 

Pinion, and that Lance Peabody was located in the room.  Gerald Cox informed the bounty 

hunter to transport Leah Pinion to his office in St. Charles.  Unbeknownst to Gerald Cox, the 

bounty hunter handcuffed Lance Peabody to bring him to the office, and another agent of the 

bounty hunter had driven Peabody’s car to St. Charles. 

 16. At approximately 3:00 a.m., the bounty hunter arrived at Cox Bail Bonds’ office 

in St. Charles with both Pinion and Peabody.  Pinion was then transported and surrendered to the 

authorities by the bounty hunter.  Peabody’s handcuffs had been removed prior to entering the 

office of Cox Bail Bonds. 

 17. Gerald Cox then informed Lance Peabody that he had breached the conditions of 

his contract and incurred additional expenses under the contract for hiring the bounty hunter.  

Gerald Cox informed Peabody that he could, given the execution of the quit claim deed, now 

collect those additional expenses by selling the residence if necessary.  Further, Gerald Cox 

chastised Peabody for his ignorance in assisting and hiding a fugitive from justice (Pinion). 

 18. Gerald Cox then informed Peabody that the total of the contract due to Cox, Inc. 

was $5,500.00, and demanded immediate payment of the balance given his distrust of Peabody.  

Peabody agreed to raise the money as soon as possible. 

 19. On August 22, 2008, the mother of Lance Peabody, Arlene Taylor, appeared at 

the office of Cox Bail Bonds and paid the balance owed by Lance Peabody.  Ms. Taylor also 

thanked both Gerald and James Cox for their patience, for not executing upon her son’s house, 

and, delivered what she characterized as her award winning banana nut bread. 
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 20. Neither Lance Peabody nor Arlene Taylor believed anything inappropriate had 

been committed by Cox, Inc. or its owners and employees as of August 22, 2008. 

 21. On or about September 16, 2008, someone in the Maryland Heights Police 

Department discovered what had occurred on August 17, 2008 at the LaQuinta Hotel with the 

bounty hunter, Pinion and Peabody. 

 22. On September 16, 2008, Defendant Fanning completed and executed a search 

warrant through the circuit court of St. Charles County on the business premises of Cox Bail 

Bonds 

 23. The affidavit executed by Defendant Fanning stated he had interviewed Peabody, 

Pinion and Taylor.  The affidavit acknowledged that the individuals who had apprehended and 

transported Pinion and Peabody on the evening of August 17, 2008, were employees and agents 

of a company known as Surety Recovery Agents (the bounty hunter), not Gerald or James Cox, 

nor an employee or agent of Cox, Inc.  

 24. In the course of executing the search warrant, police officers of the city of 

Maryland Heights seized numerous items which were not even remotely connected to the list of 

the items to be taken.  Both Gerald Cox and James Cox were arrested and transported to the city 

of Maryland Heights. 

 25. At the city of Maryland Heights Police Department, both Gerald and James Cox 

were interviewed by detectives.  James Cox was also interviewed by Defendant Delia.  

Defendant Delia and James Cox had previously worked together on the major case squad 

between calendar years 2000 – 2004.  James Cox is a retired detective of the city of Florissant 

Police Department.  While working with Defendant Delia, James Cox made Delia clearly aware 

that he thought little of his investigative skills. 
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 26. During the multiple interviews of both Gerald and James Cox, it was explained to 

the Maryland Heights Police Department that neither of them had instructed the bounty hunter to 

apprehend Lance Peabody on August 17, 2008, that neither were aware that it was occurring 

until after it happened, and that a valid contract existed for the payment of the bond fees charged 

to Lance Peabody, and paid by Arlene Taylor.  The written contract with Peabody was even 

shown and explained to the detectives and Defendant Delia.  A separate written contract 

explaining the relationship between the bounty hunter and Cox, Inc. was also shown and 

explained to the detectives and Delia. 

 27. Between September 16, 2008 and November 25, 2008, the city of Maryland 

Heights Police Department further discovered that the bounty hunter and those assisting him 

were indeed independent contractors, and that neither Gerald nor James Cox had known what 

was occurring at the LaQuinta Hotel until after it had happened.  No factual basis or legal 

probable cause existed to seek or obtain criminal charges against Gerald or James Cox for the 

events which occurred at the LaQuinta Hotel on August 17, 2008.  Nor was there a factual basis 

or legal probable cause to seek or obtain criminal charges regarding the contract between 

Peabody and Cox, Inc.  

 28. Despite the aforementioned knowledge, Defendants O’Connor, Delia and Fanning 

collectively decided to pursue criminal charges to be filed with the St. Louis County Prosecuting 

Attorney’s Office.  Moreover, during an investigative interview, Defendant Delia informed an 

employee of Cox Bail Bonds, Tammy Smith, that he knew this would cause Cox, Inc. d/b/a Cox 

Bail Bonds substantial financial losses. 

 29. On November 25, 2008, Defendants O’Connor, Delia and Fanning caused to be 

filed five (5) criminal charges against both Gerald Cox and James Cox.  In case number 08SL-

CR08703, Gerald Cox was charged, in Count I, with Burglary in the First Degree – a Class B 
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Felony, for acting with others to commit kidnapping of Lance Peabody at the LaQuinta Hotel on 

August 17, 2008; in Count II, Kidnapping – Class B Felony, for unlawfully removing Lance 

Peabody from the LaQuinta Hotel; in Count III, Tampering w/Motor Vehicle in the First Degree 

– Class C Felony, for driving the vehicle of Lance Peabody; in Count IV, Stealing $500 or More 

– Class C Felony, for using coercive means to have Arlene Taylor pay the contract expenses 

owed by Lance Peabody; and, Count V, Licensed Agent Fail to Inform Law Enforcement 

Apprehension – Class A Misdemeanor, for failing to notify Maryland Heights Police Department 

of his intent to apprehend Leah Pinion. 

 30. In case number 08SL-CR08702, Plaintiff James Cox was charged with the 

identical counts I through IV as Gerald Cox, not the Count V misdemeanor as Gerald Cox, but 

the additional Count V of Unlawful Conduct as Surety Recovery Agent – Class D Felony, for an 

unlawful apprehension. 

 31. Immediately following the filing of the criminal charges, both Gerald and James 

Cox voluntarily turned themselves into custody and remained in custody until bonds were posted 

for their release. 

 32. Following their surrender, Defendant O’Connor appeared on local news television 

commenting upon the veracity of the facts supporting those criminal charges and disrepute of 

both Gerald and James Cox. 

 33. Prior to the filing of the criminal charges, one (1) or more of the individual 

defendants contacted the circuit clerk of the city of St. Louis for the purpose of having Cox Bail 

Bonds’ permits to provide bail bonds revoked.  A copy of the search warrant was given to the 

circuit clerk of the city of St. Louis by one (1) or more of the individual defendants, or at their 

direction. 
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 34. On November 26, 2008 (the day after the filing of the criminal charges), the 

circuit clerk of the city of St. Louis did file a Notice of Termination of Cox Bail Bonds permits 

to do business in St. Louis City, and filed a Show Cause motion which tracked and detailed the 

factual averments contained in the search warrant affidavit signed by Defendant Fanning in St. 

Charles County. 

 35. Following the revocations of permits in St. Louis City for Cox Bail Bonds, St. 

Louis County, St. Charles County and the municipalities within those locations all revoked Cox 

Bail Bonds’ entitlement to do business. 

 36. On April 27, 2009, the Prosecuting Attorney of St. Louis County dismissed all 

charges against Gerald Cox and James Cox. 

 37. Between November 26, 2008 and April 27, 2009, Plaintiffs Cox, Inc., Gerald 

Cox, and James Cox were deprived of their ability to do business and suffered substantial 

financial losses.  To the date of the filing of this action, annual earnings continue to be far below 

monthly average earnings due to the stigma of the criminal charges filed at the behest of the 

Defendants.  As of the date of this filing, Plaintiffs have collectively incurred financial losses 

exceeding $174,000.00. 

COUNT I 
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – Defamation “Stigma Plus”  

(Plaintiffs Cox, Inc. and Gerald Cox v. All Defendants) 
 

 38. Plaintiffs Cox, Inc. and Gerald Cox hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-

37 as though fully set forth herein. 

 39. Plaintiffs Cox, Inc. and Gerald Cox were registered agents of duly authorized 

insurance companies to provide bonds in the circuit courts of St. Louis City, St. Louis County, 

St. Charles County, and municipalities within those areas.  The circuit and court clerks each 

issued Plaintiffs a public license and permit to provide bonds. 
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 40. Upon Defendants’ pursuit of criminal charges against Plaintiffs Gerald and James 

Cox, each of the county and municipal courts revoked the permits and licenses of Plaintiffs to 

issue bonds. 

 41. The allegations of misconduct against Plaintiffs and made by the Defendants were 

knowingly false and intended to injure each of the Plaintiffs’ reputations. 

 42. The conduct of Defendants was in violation of the Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth 

Amendment liberty interest of the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 43. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 44. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs Cox, Inc. and 

Gerald Cox have suffered damage to reputation, standing in the community, humiliation, the 

revocation of their ability to transact business, and, damage to their future business expectancy.  

Further, Plaintiffs have now incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Cox, Inc. and Gerald Cox pray for judgment in their favor and 

against Defendants for compensatory damages, special damages exceeding $174,000.00, 

punitive damages against Defendants O’Connor, Delia and Fanning in their individual 

capacities, costs of this action, prejudgment interest, attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 

1983 and 1988, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT II  
Violation of Missouri Common Law – Slander 

(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 
 

 45. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-44 as though fully set 

forth herein. 
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 46. Defendants’ statements that Gerald and James Cox had engaged in criminal 

conduct and that Cox, Inc. was a disreputable business were false and knowingly made. 

 47. Defendants’ statements were made to the public and disseminated to the local 

media and circuit and municipal clerks of the St. Louis area. 

 48. Defendant City of Maryland Heights maintains liability insurance to cover the 

claim of slander on behalf of its agents and employees as alleged herein, and therefore waived its 

ability to invoke sovereign immunity. 

 49. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 50. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, each of the Plaintiffs 

have suffered damage to reputation, standing in the community, humiliation, the revocation of 

their ability to transact business, and, damage to their future business expectancy.  Further, 

Plaintiffs have now incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, each of the Plaintiffs pray for judgment in their favor and against 

Defendants for compensatory damages, special damages exceeding $174,000.00, punitive 

damages against Defendants O’Connor, Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of 

this action, prejudgment interest, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just and 

proper. 

COUNT III 
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – Unreasonable and Unlawful Seizure 

(Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox v. All Defendants) 
 
 51. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-50 as though fully set 
forth  
 
herein. 
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 52. On September 17, 2008, Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox were detained, arrested 

and transported to the city of Maryland Heights Police Department in conjunction with a search 

warrant executed upon the premises of Cox Bail Bonds. 

 53. No arrest warrant had been issued on September 16, 2008 for the seizure, arrest 

and detention of Plaintiffs.  While at the business premises of Cox Bail Bonds, each of the 

Plaintiffs provided the Defendants with all the information and documents which demonstrated 

they had taken no part in the events which had occurred at the LaQuinta Hotel on August 17, 

2008. 

 54. Defendants had no probable cause and no reasonable, articulable suspicion to 

believe that either of the Plaintiffs had engaged in criminal conduct on August 17, 2008. 

 55. The conduct of Defendants, acting individually and together in concert, caused 

Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox to be unlawfully and unreasonably seized and detained in 

violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. 

 55. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 56. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs Gerald and 

James Cox have suffered the loss of liberty, humiliation and outrage.  Further, Plaintiffs have 

now incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox pray for judgment in their favor and 

against Defendants for compensatory damages, punitive damages against Defendants O’Connor, 

Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, prejudgment interest, 
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attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, and such other and further relief as the 

Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT IV 
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – False Imprisonment 

(Plaintiffs Gerald Cox and James Cox v. All Defendants) 
 

 57. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-56 as though fully set 
forth  
 
herein. 
 
 58. On September 16, 2008, Defendants arrested, cuffed and had completely 

restrained the liberty of Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox. 

 59. Defendants knew there was no basis to arrest or restrain the liberty of Plaintiffs 

Gerald and James Cox. 

 60. The restraint of liberty against Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox was without 

probable cause, unlawful and false in violation of Plaintiffs’ rights under the Fourth and 

Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

 61. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 62. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs Gerald and 

James Cox have suffered the loss of liberty, humiliation and outrage.  Further, Plaintiffs have 

now incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox pray for judgment in their favor and 

against Defendants for compensatory damages, punitive damages against Defendants O’Connor, 

Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, prejudgment interest, 

attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, and such other and further relief as the 

Court deems just and proper. 



 13

COUNT V 
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – Malicious Prosecution 

(Plaintiffs Gerald Cox and James Cox v. All Defendants) 
 

 63. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-62 as though fully set 

forth  

herein. 

 64. Defendants knowingly instituted criminal proceedings against Plaintiffs Gerald 

and James Cox based upon inaccurate, incomplete and false evidence.  There were no victims, 

and documents (the contracts) refuted any claim of criminal conduct. 

 65. There was no probable cause for Defendants to initiate criminal proceedings 

against Plaintiffs. 

 66. All criminal charges initiated by Defendants were dismissed once the Prosecuting 

Attorney of St. Louis County was aware of the true facts and circumstances.  

 67. The criminal prosecution against Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox was malicious 

and unlawful in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States 

Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 68. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 69. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs Gerald and 

James Cox have suffered the loss of liberty, humiliation and outrage.  Further, Plaintiffs have 

now incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox pray for judgment in their favor and 

against Defendants for compensatory damages, punitive damages against Defendants O’Connor, 

Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, prejudgment interest, 
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attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, and such other and further relief as the 

Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT VI 
Violation of Missouri Common Law – Malicious Prosecution 

(Plaintiffs Gerald Cox and James Cox v. All Defendants) 
 

 70. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-69 as though fully set 

forth  

herein. 

 71. Defendants knowingly instituted criminal proceedings against Plaintiffs Gerald 

and James Cox based upon inaccurate, incomplete and false evidence.  There were no victims, 

and documents (the contracts) refuted any claim of criminal conduct. 

 72. There was no probable cause for Defendants to initiate criminal proceedings 

against Plaintiffs. 

 73. All criminal charges initiated by Defendants were dismissed once the Prosecuting 

Attorney of St. Louis County was aware of the true facts and circumstances.  

 74. The criminal prosecution against Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox was malicious 

and unlawful in violation of the Missouri common law. 

 75. Defendant City of Maryland Heights maintains liability insurance to cover the 

claim of malicious prosecution on behalf of its agents and employees as alleged herein, and 

therefore waived its ability to invoke sovereign immunity. 

 76. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 
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 77. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs Gerald and 

James Cox have suffered the loss of liberty, humiliation and outrage.  Further, Plaintiffs have 

now incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox pray for judgment in their favor and 

against Defendants for compensatory damages, punitive damages against Defendants O’Connor, 

Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, and such other and further 

relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT VII 
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – Conspiracy to Violate Civil Rights  

(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 
 

 78. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-77 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

 79. Defendants, acting individually and in concert, did conspire to violate the civil 

rights of Plaintiffs under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States 

Constitution by defaming them, causing the revocation of permits and licenses, unlawfully 

seizing, detaining and imprisoning  Plaintiffs, and, maliciously instituting criminal proceedings 

against Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox. 

 80. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 81. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, each of the Plaintiffs 

have suffered damage to reputation, standing in the community, humiliation, the revocation of 

their ability to transact business, and, damage to their future business expectancy.  Further, 

Plaintiffs have now incurred the costs of this action. 
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment in their favor and against Defendants for 

compensatory damages, special damages exceeding $174,000.00, punitive damages against 

Defendants O’Connor, Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, 

prejudgment interest, attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, and such other 

and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT VIII 
Violation of Missouri Common Law  – Civil Conspiracy  

(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 
 

 82. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-81 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

 83. Defendants, acting individually and in concert, did conspire to violate the civil 

rights of Plaintiffs under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States 

Constitution by defaming them, causing the revocation of permits and licenses, unlawfully 

seizing, detaining and imprisoning  Plaintiffs, and, maliciously instituting criminal proceedings 

against Plaintiffs Gerald and James Cox. 

 84. Defendant City of Maryland Heights maintains liability insurance to cover the 

claim of civil conspiracy on behalf of its agents and employees as alleged herein, and therefore 

waived its ability to invoke sovereign immunity. 

 85. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 86. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, each of the Plaintiffs 

have suffered damage to reputation, standing in the community, humiliation, the revocation of 

their ability to transact business, and, damage to their future business expectancy.  Further, 

Plaintiffs have now incurred the costs of this action. 
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment in their favor and against Defendants for 

compensatory damages, special damages exceeding $174,000.00, punitive damages against 

Defendants O’Connor, Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, 

prejudgment interest, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT IX 
Violation of Missouri Common Law – Tortuous Interference with Business Expectancy 

(Plaintiff Cox, Inc. v. All Defendants) 
 

 87. Plaintiff Cox, Inc. hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-86 as though 

fully set forth herein. 

 88. Plaintiff Cox, Inc. had a valid and legitimate business expectancy of retaining 

permits and licenses to issue bonds in St. Louis City, St. Louis County, St. Charles County, and 

the municipalities within those areas. 

 89. Defendants were aware of Plaintiff’s business expectancy and intentionally 

interfered with it by knowingly seeking and obtaining criminal charges against Plaintiffs Gerald 

Cox and James Cox. 

 90. By virtue of the criminal charges, Plaintiff Cox, Inc. had its permits and licenses 

revoked without reasonable or just cause. 

 91. Defendant City of Maryland Heights maintains liability insurance to cover the 

claim of tortuous interference with business expectancy on behalf of its agents and employees as 

alleged herein, and therefore waived its ability to invoke sovereign immunity. 

 92. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiff Cox, Inc., thereby 

entitling Plaintiff Cox, Inc. to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their 

individual capacities. 
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 93. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff Cox, Inc. has 

suffered damage to its business reputation, the revocation of its ability to transact business, and, 

damage to its future business expectancy.  Further, Plaintiff has now incurred the costs of this 

action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Cox, Inc. prays for judgment in its favor and against 

Defendants for special damages exceeding $174,000.00, punitive damages against Defendants 

O’Connor, Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, prejudgment 

interest, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT X 
Violation of Missouri Common Law – Tortuous Interference with Contract 

(Plaintiff Cox, Inc. v. All Defendants) 
 

 94. Plaintiff Cox, Inc. hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-93 as though 

fully set forth herein. 

 95. Plaintiff Cox, Inc. had a valid and legitimate business expectancy in the contract 

with Lance Peabody for the payment of bonding fees and collection fees in the amount of 

$5,500.00. 

 96. Defendants were aware of Plaintiff’s business expectancy and intentionally 

interfered with it by knowingly seeking and obtaining criminal charges against Plaintiffs Gerald 

Cox and James Cox. 

 97. By virtue of the criminal charges, Plaintiff Cox, Inc. was required to disgorge the 

fees paid under the contract. 

 98. Defendant City of Maryland Heights maintains liability insurance to cover the 

claim of tortuous interference with contract on behalf of its agents and employees as alleged 

herein, and therefore waived its ability to invoke sovereign immunity. 
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 99. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiff Cox, Inc., thereby 

entitling Plaintiff Cox, Inc. to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their 

individual capacities. 

 100. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff Cox, Inc. has 

lost the contract amount of $5,500.00, and incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Cox, Inc. prays for judgment in its favor and against 

Defendants for special damages exceeding $5,500.00, punitive damages against Defendants 

O’Connor, Delia and Fanning in their individual capacities, costs of this action, prejudgment 

interest, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT XI 
Violation of Missouri Common Law – Replevin 

(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 
 

 101. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-100 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

 102. On September 16, 2008, Defendants seized numerous personal and business 

related items of each of the Plaintiffs. 

 103. The Defendants’ reasoning for the seizure was its own criminal investigation.  

Criminal charges were filed and have been dismissed. 

 104. No legitimate reason exists for Defendants to retain all of the items seized on 

September 16, 2008. 

 105. Plaintiffs are the rightful owners of all the items seized and are entitled to regain 

possession of those items. 

 106. Demands have been made upon Defendants for the return of their property to no 

avail. 
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 107. Defendant City of Maryland Heights maintains liability insurance to cover the 

claim of replevin on behalf of its agents and employees as alleged herein, and therefore waived 

its ability to invoke sovereign immunity. 

 108. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs have now 

incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment in their favor and against Defendants for 

the return of all personal and business related items seized on September 16, 2008, costs of this 

action, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT XII  
Violation of Missouri Common Law – Conversion 

(All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants) 
 

 109. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-108 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

 110. On September 16, 2008, Defendants seized numerous personal and business 

related items of each of the Plaintiffs as set forth Count XI, above. 

 111. Plaintiffs have been deprived of their personal and business related property as a 

direct result of the Defendants’ exercise of dominion and control of their property. 

 112. No legitimate basis exists for Defendants to retain Plaintiffs’ property and 

Defendants have refused to return it. 

 113. Plaintiffs have been deprived of the use of their property and the value of that 

property has now diminished, if it still exists at all. 

 114. Defendant City of Maryland Heights maintains liability insurance to cover the 

claim of conversion on behalf of its agents and employees as alleged herein, and therefore 

waived its ability to invoke sovereign immunity. 
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 115. The conduct of Defendants was intentional, malicious and committed with 

deliberate indifference to and reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs thereby entitling 

Plaintiffs to punitive damages against the individual Defendants in their individual capacities. 

 116. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs have now 

incurred the costs of this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment in their favor and against Defendants in an 

amount to be determined at trial for the diminution in value of their property, for the complete 

destruction of their property, punitive damages, costs of this action, and such other and further 

relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
BAGSBY & LEE, L.L.C. 
 
 
 
/s/ Larry A. Bagsby    
Larry A. Bagsby, #30064 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
1600 Heritage Landing, Suite 201 
St. Charles, MO  63303 
(636) 928-2121 telephone 
(636) 928-3131 facsimile 
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